Richard Marks

THE ARCHITECTURAL ICON:
PICTURING SOLOVETSKI MONASTERY

Between the sixteenth century and the 1917 Revolution, the famous
monastery of Solovetski on the White Sea generated a very large number
icons bearing representations of it and its saintly founders. There was not
one single iconographical model or prototype, with the result that the icons
exhibit considerable variety not only in detail but also in subject-matter. This
paper analyses the Solovetski icons and in particular explores the ways in
which they blend hierotopic space, site-specific references and even evoke
the celestial Jerusalem. The focus is on the icons of the late sixteenth and
seventeenth centuries.

The genre of Russian icon-painting which (anachronistically) can be
labelled as the ‘architectural icon’ has it origins in Byzantium. Representa-
tions of architecture featured on Russian icons from the fourteenth century
and were borrowed from contemporary Byzantine art'. The kinds of build-
ings or segments of buildings shown on these icons are fanciful and derived
from antique prototypes. Such motifs were circulated in Russia by Greek
artists, as is shown by the well-known (and problematic) letter written in
c. 1415 by Epifanij the Wise concerning the painter Theofan®. By the late

For example, compare the late fifteenth-century Russian icon of the Deposition of the Virgin’s
girdle and veil from Borodava in the Vologda region (Moscow, The Andrei Rublev Museum of
Early Russian Art, Inv. No. 057 VL, 68x55.5 cm) with a Palacologue miniature mosaic icon of
the Annunciation in the Victoria & Albert Museum, London Inv. No. 7231-1860. See
Guseva V. A. The Andrei Rublev Museum of Early Russian Art. Leningrad, 1981, p. 40-41,
244-245, No. 57, Pl. 46; Buckton D. (ed.). Byzantium. Treasures of Byzantine Art and Culture
from British Collections (British Museum exhibition catalogue). London, 1994, Cat. No. 220.

This letter has been discussed extensively. Inter alia, see Bortnes J. Visions of Glory: Stud-
ies in Early Russian Hagiography. Oslo and Atlantic Highlands, New Jersey, 1988, espe-
cially p. 177; Lazarev V. N. Studies in Early Russian Art. London, 2000, p. 163—172, 205—
248 (reprinted from Vizantiiskii Vremennik vols VII, 1953, VIII, 1954); idem. Theophanes
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seventeenth century, leading Muscovite painters were depicting architecture
with some degree of accuracy and using the kind of ‘realistic’ perspective
long familiar in western art. The much-discussed icon known as The Tree of
the State of Muscovy (in Praise of the Mother of God of Viadimir) painted
by Simon Ushakov in 1668 for the church of the Holy Trinity in Nikitniki,
Moscow exhibits both of these features in the rendering of the Moscow,
Kremlin walls and the Cathedral of the Dormition of the Mother of God
(P1. 1)°. It would be misleading to say that the picturing of recognizable
buildings replaced non-specific representations; rather the two modes co-
existed, sometimes on the same icon.

This is much in evidence on the numerous icons from the late six-
teenth century onwards depicting Russian monasteries and their saintly
founders*; and none more so than those portraying the monastery of the
Transfiguration on the Solovetski islands, the northernmost and one of the
most prestigious foundations in Russia, established in the fifteenth century
by SS Savvatii and Zosima’. The monastery reached its apogee in the mid-
dle of the sixteenth century, when Filipp was its hegumen (1548-1566) and
Makarii, previously archbishop of Novgorod, became Metropolitan of All-
Russia (1542-1563). The coincidence of these two powerful and well-
connected men resulted in the monastery attracting large donations of land
and rents from the Moscow elite, notably Tsar Ivan IV. Filipp initiated the
replacement of the existing wooden monastic structures by much more am-
bitious and monumental buildings in stone and brick, a programme which

der Grieche und Seine Schule. Vienna and Munich, 1968, p. 7-13; Cormack R. Painting the

Soul. Icons Death Masks and Shrouds. London, 1997, p. 187-189.
3 Aumownosa B. H., Mnesa H. E. (Antonova V. I., Mneva H. E.) Karanor npeBHepycckoi
xuBornrcu XI — nagama XVIII Bexa / Cobpanne 'ocynapcrBenHoi TpeThsSKOBCKOH Ta-
neper. OTBIT HCTOPUKO-XYI0KECTBEHHOM Kiaccudukanuu. Vol. 2. Moscow, 1963, Cat.
No. 912, Pls 142—143; Smirnova E. Moscow Icons 14"-17" centuries. Leningrad, 1989,
Nos 199-200; I'ycesa 3. K. u op. (Guseva et al.) boromareps Brnanumupckasa: K 600-
netuto Cperenbsi nkonsl boromatepu Bnagumupckoii 8 Mockse (Tretyakov Gallery ex-
hibition catalogue). Moscow, 1995, Cat. No. 26; Smirnova E. S. ‘Simon Ushakov —
“Historicism” and “Byzantinism”. On the Interpretation of Russian Painting from the
Second Half of the Seventeenth Century’ // Religion and Culture in Early Modern Russia
and Ukraine / Ed. Baron S. H., Kollmann N. S. 1997, p. 169-183, esp. p. 171-172, 179.
For studies of Russian ‘monastic’ icons, see: Kocyosa A. C., Ilo6eounckas A. I'. (Kostso-
va A. S., Pobedinskaya A. G.). Pycckue nxonbl XVI — Hauanma XX Beka ¢ H300pakeHHEM
MOHacThIpell 1 ux ocHoparerneii / Exhibition catalogue. State Hermitage Museum, St Peters-
burg, 1996, p.5-6, 13, 63-76, Cat. Nos. 59-85; [lonsxoea O. A. (Polyakova O. A.) Apxutexk-
Typa Poccun B ee nkone. I'oposna, MoHacTsipy U 1iepkBU B ukoHonucu XVI-XIX BekoB u3
coOpanust My3esi-3anoBenauka «Komomenckoe» (in Rus., Engl.). Moscow, 2006. Professor
Leonid Beliaev kindly drew the second of these publications to my attention.
Much has been written on Solovetski. For a recent summary account in English, see
Robson R. R. Solovki. New Haven and London, 2004.
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continued for over half a century. It is these reconstructions which provide
the terminus post quem for the ‘architectural’ icons’.

The chronology is as follows:

15521557 Refectory church of the Dormition of the Virgin

1558-1566 Cathedral of the Transfiguration

1577-1584 Church of St Nicholas (rebuilt 1830—1834)

15821596 Construction of the granite walls (completed in 1621)

1596—1601 Church of the Annunciation over the main west gate

1602 Enclosed stone gallery linking the three main churches.
Alterations and additions were made at various times subsequently, but the
complex as a whole as shown in an etching made in 1827 or 1837 was not
substantially different to its appearance in 1602 (and indeed today) (P1. 2)’.

The earliest securely dated Solovetski icons are the pair of very large
panels both now in the Kremlin Museums, Moscow and bearing the date
7053 (1545); the inscription on the frame to the main scene also mentions
Hegumen Filipp and it can be assumed that he commissioned them, either
from a Muscovite painter, or possibly an artist from Novgorod influenced
by the art of the capital (P1. 3)*. Described in the 1549 monastery inventory
as the Acts of the Miracle-Workers of Solovetski, they were originally dis-
played separately above the graves of Savvatii and Zosima in their chapel
attached to the Transfiguration Cathedral. Although the two icons are iden-
tical in neither size nor imagery, they are very similar. They are ‘vita’
icons concerned with the foundation and establishment of the monastery by
the two saints and with miracles performed by them which are taken from
their Lives compiled at the turn of the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries;
these frame scenes enclose the Mother of God Bogoliubsky interceding
with Christ for SS Zosima and Savvatii with the other monks of the monas-

=

For recent publications on the architecture and art of Solovetski see Ckonun B. B., Il]ennuxo-
6a JI. A. ApXUTEKTypHO-XynoxecTBeHHbIH aHcam6i1b Cosoerikoro Monactbipsi / The Archi-
tectural Ensemble of the Solovetsky Monastery. Moscow, 1982; Cxonun B. B., Tumosa T. A.,
Uennurosa JI. A. u dp. (Skopin et al.) ConoBeuxuit MmoHacTeIpb. St Petersburg, 2000; Brum-
field W. C. ‘Tradition and Innovation in the Sixteenth-Century Architecture of Solovetski
Transfiguration Monastery’ // The Russian Review vol. 62, no. 3 (2003), p. 333-365.

The buildings with their decoration and furnishings were severely damaged after 1917. For
the monastery’s appearance, including interiors, in 1888, see Jleuyuneep A. U. (Leitsin-
ger Y. 1) ConoBku. 1888 r. ®oTtoans6om. Apxanrenbck, 2005.

State Museums of the Moscow Kremlin Inv. Nos 789 and 799 cob. See Smirnova. Mos-
cow Icons, Nos 171-172; The Art of Holy Russia. Icons from Moscow 1400-1660
(Royal Academy exhibition catalogue). London, 1998, Cat. No. 23; Skopin et al. (2000),
Icons chapter Pl. 42, 43, p. 244-246. The (probable) attribution to a Muscovite painter is
made by Smirnova, whereas the catalogue entry in The Art of Holy Russia introduces the
hypothesis of a Novgorod painter; the latter also states that they were probably painted at
Solovetski itself.
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tery kneeling in prayer at her feet’. The two saints are shown with haloes
and interestingly, these icons pre-date their formal canonisation by Metro-
politan Makarii in 1547. The founders and monks occupy the island, which
is represented as mainly barren and rocky. The monastery itself is repre-
sented by two tall white churches separated by a domed bell-frame. As in
the frame scenes these structures are entirely schematised and can have
borne no relationship to the actual monastic buildings which in 1545 were
still all wooden and, presumably, modest in size and architectural ambi-
tion. The absence of any attempt at architectural verisimilitude is not of
any significance; what is important is the sense of a distinctive sacred
landscape — and a Russian locus at that — imparted by the inclusion of
the island itself. This feature distinguishes the Solovetski 1545 pair from
earlier depictions of monasteries and their founders, as for example the mid
fourteenth-century fresco of Archbishop Danilo II in the Mother of God
church he added to the patriarchal complex at Pe¢ in Kosovo and the dou-
ble-sided icon of the Emperor Alexios III Comnenos with the patronal
saint, John the Baptist, at Dionysiou monastery, Mount Athos, of ¢.1375
(P1. 6)'°. In these and other examples, whilst the representations of the
buildings might bear a resemblance to the actual structures, they are, as it
were, suspended in space with no attempt to locate them topographically: a
foundation is a foundation and evidently its location was not considered
sufficiently significant to render pictorially. Two centuries later this was
still the case in the Orthodox lands under Ottoman rule'".

‘Vita’ icons of the two founders continued to be painted in subsequent
centuries for iconostases of monasteries and churches, especially in north
Russia'?. On these standing figures of Zosima and Savvatii replace the
Mother of God Bogoliubsky and the kneeling monastic community. As with
the 1545 pair, there are variations on the theme rather than rigid conformity
to one model. For example, on a seventeenth-century icon in the Archangel

° The respective dimensions are: 160x120 cm (Inv. 799); 214x138 cm (Inv. 789). The latter
has three larger additional scenes concerned with monastic life in the lower frame. For
‘vita’ icons see Sevcenko N. P. “The Vita Icon and the Painter as Hagiographer’ // DOP,
vol. 53 (1999), p. 149-165.

' Duri¢ V. J. Byzantinische Fresken in Jugoslawien. Belgrade, 1974, P1. 55; for the Diony-
siou icon see Treasures of Mount Athos (Museum of Byzantine Culture, exhibition cata-
logue), Thessaloniki, 1997. Cat. No. 2.29.

"' For example, frescoes at Varlaam monastery, Meteora and Megisti Lavra, Mount Athos;
also in the monasteries of the Bukovina region in Romania. For a recent study of depictions
of churches in Serbia, see Marinkovi¢ C. ‘Founder’s Model — Representation of a Ma-
quette or the Church?’ // Recueil des travaux de I’Institut d’etudes byzantines, vol. 44
(2007), p. 145-153.

12 For example, a late sixteenth-century icon from Belozersk (The State Russian Museum.
Russian Monasteries Art and Traditions. St Petersburg, 1997, p.109).
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Fine Arts Museum the two saints stand on a knoll signifying the island and
gesture towards the diminutive Mother of God of the Sign at the top; al-
though the monastery is depicted in the frame scenes, it does not appear in
the central one'’. However, in most “vita’ examples that I have seen the mo-
nastic buildings are represented in the centre. On another large seventeenth-
century icon now at Girton College, University of Cambridge, Zosima offers
a small ‘model’ of the monastery, while Savvatii raises his right hand in
blessing; both hold scrolls (P1. 4)'*. The principal scene of an icon in the
Hermitage Museum, St Petersburg, dating from the late seventeenth or early
eighteenth century, is devoted to the monastic complex"’.

SS Savvatii and Zosima are the dominant feature of many seventeenth-
century prayer icons. One variant emphasizes their emulation of the Desert
Fathers by placing them against a backdrop of a rocky and barren island
terrain, but with plants growing under their feet, suggesting perhaps that
their holiness enriches the ground that they tread (P1. 5)'°. The monastery
itself is absent, but in numerous versions of this type it is held by the two
saints who act as supporting columns — literally the pillars of Solovetski
(Pls 7, 8). The complex resembles an architectural model and is tipped
forward in birds-eye perspective to depict the principal buildings with
some degree of accuracy and relative scale. This particular representation
of Solovetski and its founders is a common iconographic type derived ul-
timately from Byzantine or Serbian founder images in fresco and mosaic
(P1. 6) and remained popular into the twentieth century. One important dif-
ference is that Zosima and Savvatii are not offering a representation of the
monastery as it existed in their time, but as it was in the seventeenth cen-
tury; some later Solovetski icons of this type include subsequent additions
and alterations to the churches in schematised form. Usually SS Zosima
and Savvatii are offering their monastery to the Mother of God of the Sign
(Znamenie), who in return is bestowing her protection on it. An icon of this
type was considered to be miracle-working at Solovetski. The Mother of
God of the Sign was also the protecting icon of Novgorod and its pictorial
association with the founders represented Solovetski’s long ties with this
city and support of its citizens'’. The scroll held by St Zosima on these
icons has variations of wording around the text ‘Do not be sorrowful, my

13 Skopin et al., ill. on p. 28.

' Sotheby’s Catalogue of Icons (18 October 1982), lot 85. 99x65 cm. This is one of sixteen
icons depicting SS Zosima and Savvatii (as well as other Russian icons) bequeathed to Gir-
ton College by Diana Lorch.

15 Kocyosa, Ilobedurnckas, p. 6, Cat. No. 68.

' Sotheby’s Catalogue of Icons (5 October 1981), lot 65. 31x26.5 cm.

17 The State Russian Museum. Russian Monasteries Art and Traditions, p-108; Kocyosa, Ilo-
bedunckas, p. 5-6.
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brethren, but be understanding about this [my death] and it may be through
you that [ will find grace before God’.

Leonid Ouspenskii suggested that icons like these (he was referring spe-
cifically to an icon of St Macarius and his monastery on the Unsha) function
too as visual metaphors, opposing the external to the more important work of
internalised spiritual construction of the soul:

‘Glorified by the gift of miracles, the saint — an animate temple not
made with human hands — is as it were opposed here in his signifi-
cance to the monastery with its inanimate temple made with human
hands, which is only a way to the aim which the saint has achieved
by his strivings within its walls. St Macarius, in monk’s habit, stands
outside the walls of the monastery he founded, no longer as its in-
mate and prior, but as its heavenly protector who prays for it. His
guardianship and care do not cease with his death — they only pass

to another plane’'®.

The representation of churches with a degree of veracity was com-
monplace in Byzantine times (Pl. 6) and from the late sixteenth century
Russian icon-painters (and their patrons?) showed an interest in depicting
elements of real, as opposed to, imaginary topography'®. Nevertheless,
verisimilitude was not the purpose of these icons; it was sufficient to ren-
der certain features such as the walls and the great churches in order to
make Solovetski distinguishable from icons representing other Russian
monastic establishments®. A wood-engraved icon in the Russian Museum,
St Petersburg, has been considered to have been produced prior to the
erection in 1688 of the church of Metropolitan Filipp, on the grounds that
this is not depicted (P1. 8)*'. This deduction is questionable as the inclu-
sion of this church is not central to the imagery of Solovetski, focussed as
it is on the veneration of SS Zosima and Savvatii. Equally problematic are
the attempts by architectural historians to look to the earlier icons as evi-
dence of lost or changed design features in the actual buildings of the
monastery, notably the argument as to whether the central cupola of the
Transfiguration Cathedral as depicted in Plate 14 was originally in the

'8 Ouspenskii L. and Losskii V. The Meaning of Icons. New York, 1999, p.132.

1% A notable example is the late sixteenth or early seventeenth-century icon of the Vision of
Sexton Tarasius with its representation of Novgorod (Likhachev D. et al. Novgorod Icons
12"-17" Century. Leningrad and Oxford, 1980, No. 239).

2 For example, a fine sixteenth-century icon in the Tretyakov Gallery depicting a miracle of
St Alexander of Svir’, which depicts the log perimeter walls of his monastery (4ntonova
and Mneva. Vol. 2. Cat. No. 675, Pl. 93; Fondation Pierre Gianadda. Icones russes. Les
Saints (exhibition catalogue), Martigny (Switzerland) 2000. Cat. No. 18).

2! nv. No. 3516; The State Russian Museum. Russian Monasteries Art and Traditions, p.144.
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form of a tent-dome in the manner of the church of the Ascension at Ko-
lomenskoe, Moscow?.

Another category encompassing both prayer and larger icons has Solov-
etski monastery and its island setting, rather than the founder saints, as their
primary subject. Amongst the most attractive examples is an icon in the
Tretyakov Gallery, probably executed soon after the completion of the great
rebuilding programme in the early seventeenth century (P1. 9)*. This shows
the monastery on its rocky island and with the White Sea framing the com-
position; SS Zosima and Savvatii flank the walls at the base of the composi-
tion and address each other. The icon combines the general with the specific.
As with the icons illustrated in Plates 7 and 8, the composition is unhistorical
in the sense that the two saints are associated with a representation of the
monastery complex as it existed long after their deaths. Moreover, the actual
island while rocky, is nothing like as barren as it is depicted. The inhospita-
ble terrain of the icon (as on the 1545 icons, Pl. 3) is a topos emphasizing the
desert-like nature of the foundation and the asceticism of its founders. The
monastery itself, however, is more than just a schematised rendering, despite
the absence of perspective and its flattened-out appearance. This is a Byzan-
tine way of organizing space which, like the layout on a written page, allows
every detail of the most important features of the monastery to be shown.
Reading from left to right, there is the church of the Dormition, with its
prominent low and wide refectory; in the centre is the tall church of St
Nicholas and on the right the even taller five-domed cathedral of the Trans-
figuration. Above the main gate is the small single-domed church of the An-
nunciation. The gate itself forms part of the monastic enclosure, of which a
notable feature is the large boulders from which the wall is constructed. De-
spite the absence of the prominent turrets which in reality punctuate the pe-
rimeter wall (Pl. 2), the painter (or the patron) of the icon clearly intended
this wall to be identifiable as that of Solovetski monastery. The absence of
the mini-icons which serve as iconographical identifiers for the churches on
some Solovetski icons (Pls 10, 11, 13—16) may indicate that this icon was
intended for use by the community itself. The schematic architectural fea-
tures notwithstanding, they have features recognizable in the complex as it
exists today: the whitewashed stone and brick buildings, the attempt to dif-

2 Kocyosa, Hobeounckas, p. 5 incline to this view; See Brumfield, p. 350-352 for a more
sceptical evaluation (with further bibliography in n. 28). Later icons do appear to represent
the complex with a greater degree of veracity, probably under the influence of prints and
engravings; see for example an icon dated 1828 in a church in the Onega River region:
Konvyosa T. M. (Koltsova T. M.) Uxonsr CesepHoro IToonexss. Moscow, 2005, Cat. No.
133, ills on p.185, 186.

* Talbot Rice T. Icons. London, 1960, No. 55; Antonova and Mneva. Vol. 2. Cat. No. 642.
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ferentiate between the principal churches by depicting their salient features
however summarily (eg the size and five domes of the Transfiguration Ca-
thedral) and the massive boulders of the walls. Although this hypothesis has
its drawbacks, the wooden stairway in front of the refectory may point to a
date for the painting of the icon before it was replaced by the stone gallery in
1602, but after the construction of the gatehouse church of the Annunciation
the previous year™. Could it have been painted as a thanksgiving for the
completion of the major works?

For the most part, these Solovetski icons are distinguished less by accu-
racy of representation of the site than by the rendering of a sacred landscape,
or more precisely, monasteryscape in which key events of Solovetski’s past
and more recent history are played out in a simultaneous narrative. Solovetski
itself, its churches, relics and miraculous icons, had become an iconic sanctus
locus and these representations of its most sacred features are in essence icons
of an icon. There is no single blueprint; the considerable variation in details
amongst these ‘architectural icons’ stems from the fact that, although Solov-
etski had its own painting studio from at least 1615, icons of the monastery
and its founders were also painted in the villages bordering the White Sea and
centres far removed from Solovetski; even within the ranks of the monastic
icon-painters housed in the monastery there were masters from other Russian
centres with their own pictorial traditions and models™. As a result uniform-
ity is not a characteristic of the icons on which the monastery is the primary
subject. Moreover, the differences between them in the representations and
locations of the monastery’s churches presumably reflect the particular devo-
tional priorities of painter and/or commissioner and the intended beholders of
the icons. On these icons the complex in all its architectural splendour acts
like a film or stage-set in which the identities of the principal churches are
signalled not so much by verisimilitude as by mini-icons. On the late seven-
teenth-century icon in Plate 10 St Savvatii is seen arriving by boat, then,
flanking the entrance gate, he and Zosima are labouring and on the left are
conversing. They appear again above their graves under domed structures.
The imagery of a slightly earlier icon is similar, but with both saints arriving

? The Annunciation church and a wooden connecting gallery are also represented on the title-
page of an early seventeenth-century manuscript of the lives of SS Zosima and Savvatii in
the State Historical Museum, Moscow ((Skopin and Shchennikova, Pl. 36). The composi-
tion looks as if it is modelled on contemporary icons.

3 Kocyosa, Hobedunckas, p. 5-6. For example, one of the large “vita’ icons in the Hermitage
mentioned above was obtained from a church in the Yaroslavl oblast and has been attrib-
uted to a painter from Kostroma (ibid., p. 5, 6, Cat. No. 77). See also Kleimola A. ‘Regulat-
ing Icon Painters in the Era of the Ulozhenie: Evidence from the Russian North’ // Russian
History 34 nos 1-4 (2007), p. 341-363, esp. 343, 345-347.

26 The Temple Gallery Christmas 2004 Catalogue. London, 2004, No. 8. 31x27.5 cm.
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by separate boats and they are not shown labouring (P1. 11)*’. The treatment
of the architecture is broadly similar on both icons. As is the case in reality,
the church of St Nicholas is in the centre, but the Transfiguration Cathedral is
shown on the left and the Dormition on the right, i.e. a reversal of the actual
monastic topography. The dedications of the two flanking churches are not
represented by icons of the Transfiguration and the Dormition, but by the
head of Christ (on the mid seventeenth-century icon only) and well-known
Mother of God icon types (Umilenie on the late seventeenth-century icon and
the Kazanskaya on the earlier one)**. Although Zosima and Savvatii are con-
versing in the Transfiguration Cathedral, their tombs flank the St Nicholas
church whereas in fact their shrine-chapel was at the east end of the Trans-
figuration Cathedral before its incorporation in the mid-nineteenth-century
Holy Trinity Cathedral®’. The purpose behind the manipulation of the topog-
raphy seems to be to emphasize the holiest places in the monastery, ie the
shrines of the saintly founders. On an icon design of the end of the seven-
teenth century in the State Historical Museum, Moscow, the Transfiguration
Cathedral is the subject and the tombs of the two saints are depicted in two
separate flanking chapels; laymen venerate the two shrines and are being read
to by monks (presumably the texts are the lives and miracles of the founder
saints) (P1. 12)*. The architectural vocabulary is up-dated: the cupolas (five
for the Transfiguration as in reality) are onion-shaped and the scallop-shell
zakomary and columns with capitals form a proscenium arch to the figures of
Zosima and Savvatii witnessing the Transfiguration; the saints are placed
within the cathedral with the Transfiguration depicted as a large framed icon
above the altar. The flamboyant framing to the entrance gate represents sev-
enteenth-century Russian architecture and would have been taken from the
painter’s repertoire of motifs and designs. The association of the two saints
with the Transfiguration is connected with the fact that their bodies were
translated in 1566 to their current locations on this festival (6 August); subse-
quently the feast day of the Translation (the major celebration of the two
saints) was moved to 8 August in order to avoid a coincidence of celebra-
tions’'. Despite the lack of interest in architectural veracity, the turrets which
punctuate the perimeter walls and the boulder construction are delineated as a
hagiographical sign of Solovetski.

2 The Temple Gallery Christmas 2003 Catalogue. London, 2003, No. 12. 31.4x27.3 cm.

8 The same icons appear on the title-page of the early seventeenth-century manuscript in the
State Historical Museum, Moscow ((Skopin and Shchennikova, P1. 36).

% For a photograph of the two saints’ shrines in the Holy Trinity Cathedral, see Jetiyuneep.

3% Uxonnsre 06pasisr XVII — Havana XIX BB. MkoHorpadus pycckux cBstsx / [Ipeauci. n
cocr. 3. I1. Mopo3zogoii (Introd. and compos. by Z. P. Morozova). Moscow, 1994, Cat. No.
21 (Inv. No. UIXIII-14923). 28.5%x24 cm.

3! Brumfield, p. 348.
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Slight changes are rung again in a large early eighteenth-century icon
(P1. 13), which again has the Transfiguration Cathedral with the founders
and their shrines in the middle. Here, though, the churches of St Nicholas
and of the Dormition of the Virgin are present. The saints appear as standing
figures in the cathedral (without the Transfiguration) as well as recumbent
on their tombs. They are depicted a third time in two boats welcoming lay
pilgrims (all male) who are also shown within the monastic complex where
they venerate the founders’ relics and are blessed by the monks. The presen-
tation of Solovetski as a sacred site and the inclusion of laymen may indicate
that the icon, like Plate 12, was located in a village or town church rather
than a monastery where it could serve as an encouragement to undertake pil-
grimage to the monastery™-.

The Transfiguration Cathedral also occupies the centre of the composi-
tion on three prayer icons all dating from the seventeenth century (Pls 14, 15,
16)*. In all of them the founders’ tombs are displaced to the left and the icon
of the Mother of God is of the Umilenie type. The Transfiguration is promi-
nent on the attractive Tretyakov Galley icon (PI. 14); SS Zosima and Savva-
tii not only witness this event, but by standing in front of the lower slopes of
Mount Tabor appear to be present at it’*. On the Berlin and Recklinghausen
icons (Pls 15, 16), SS Zosima and Savvatii venerate the icon of the Mandy-
lion (the image of Christ not made by human hands), which may represent
the much-venerated icon of Christ painted by St Eleazar, a very ascetic monk
of Solovetski in the early seventeenth century®”. On the Berlin icon, the sig-
nifying images of St Nicholas and the Mother of God are shown as icons
with podea below.

These ‘icons within an icon’ do not I think function merely as identify-
ing labels for the three principal churches of Solovetski. In the Russian Or-
thodox calendar Savvatii is celebrated on 27 September and Zosima on 17
April. The Feast of the Translation of their relics (8 August) falls between
two major Orthodox feasts: the Transfiguration (6 August) and the Dor-
mition of the Mother of God (15 August), the last followed the next day by
the Feast of the Image of Christ not made by Human Hands (the Mandylion).

32 Sotheby’s Catalogue of Icons (18 October 1982), lot 97. 81x55 cm.

33 Tretyakov Gallery Inv. No. 24859 (beginning of seventeenth century, 31.2x27.5 cm) Fonda-
tion Pierre Gianadda. Cat. No. 22; Berlin, Staatliche Museen Preussischer Kulturbesitz Inv.
No. 9635 (late seventeenth century, 31.3x27.5 cm): Elbern V. H. Das Ikonenkabinett. Bilder-
hefte der Staaatlichen Museen Preussischer Kulturbesitz Berlin Vol. 34/35. Berlin 1979, No.
32; Recklinghausen, Ikonen-Museum Inv. No. 413 (mid-seventeenth century, 31x27 cm):
Haustein-Bartsch E. Ikonen-Museum Recklinghausen. Munich 1995, p. 124-125.

3* The Tretyakov Gallery has another, very similar, icon of about the same date, attributed to
the Stroganov School (Inv. No. 12106, 31x27cm; Antonova and Mneva. Vol. 2. Cat.
No. 834, P1. 125).

35 Robson, p. 180.
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Conveniently, all these feast-days fall in the most clement time of the year
for the archipelago, when it is accessible from the mainland.

The icons of Solovetski bear overlapping, sometimes complex mean-
ings. The most straightforward are those with SS Zosima and Savvatii of-
fering their monastery to the Mother of God (Pls 7, 8), which fall into the
category of Byzantine ‘founder-images’ (Pl. 6). The focus is on the foun-
ders themselves and the monastery with its distinguishing features is their
hagiographical sign or attribute. Nonetheless their replication and dissemi-
nation as prayer and church icons beyond as well as within the walls of So-
lovetski meant that they functioned differently from the site-specific foun-
der images: they were portable disseminators of the cult of the Solovetski
founders and brought the cult to the viewer. The same is true of the icons
in which Solovetski monastery itself, with its three principal churches, the
graves of the founders and the miracle-working or much-venerated icons,
is the subject. These particular Solovetski icons picture a place, a sanctus
locus. But places are neither neutral nor objective: how they are experi-
enced by the individual viewer depends either on his/her presence in that
place or through an image of it. To use a Kantian formulation, ‘Human be-
ings are not placed, they bring place into being”*®. And as the viewer / be-
holder / venerator is an elusive entity in any era (let alone one as remote as
late sixteenth and seventeenth-century Russia), reception and meaning are
neither fixed nor stable’’. Images do not function in a vacuum, but are
framed by current ideologies and local power structures, whether clerical
or lay (or both), their environment and the particular historical moment
they occupied. An icon is multivalent and its reception by its venerator de-
pends upon a whole range of cultural determinants affecting both the icon
(location, display, appearance, embellishment) and the viewer (age, social
status, gender, occupation, health, wealth or poverty, literacy or illiteracy,
personal history).

It would be reductive therefore to impart a single interpretation to the
Solovetski icons and empirically impossible to reconstruct their reception by
contemporaries. Nonetheless, it is conceivable that for those who had a grasp
of eschatology, the iconic depictions of Solovetski did not merely evoke a
specifically Russian locus sanctus, but the Holy Land itself and the New Je-
rusalem of the Revelation of St John the Divine, as the monastery was to be-
come for the Old Believers®®. Of course any monastery or place in which the

36 Smith J. Z. To Take Place. Toward a Theory in Ritual. Chicago and London, 1987, p. 28.

37 As pointed out by Glenn Peers in his review in Medieval Reviews. Summer 2006 of
Pentcheva B. V. Icons and Power: The Mother of God in Byzantium. Pennsylvania, 2006.

38 See the paper by Olga Chumicheva in this volume.
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liturgy is celebrated can be perceived as New Jerusalem®. Solovetski does
not fall into the same category as Patriarch Nikon’s foundation of the New
Jerusalem monastery at Istra and other literal evocations in that neither its
actual architecture nor its representation on these icons attempts to replicate
buildings in the Holy Land. Bianca Kiihnel has observed that ‘The great ma-
jority of artistic expressions connected to Jerusalem are... based on a mutual
influence between the history, location, shape, architecture or decoration of
the real city, and the qualities and expectations of the ideal one’; in this in-
stance the ‘city’ is Solovetski and its representation not merely Russian but
distinctive within Russia*’.

Svetlana Popovi¢ has described monasteries as a hierarchy of sacred
structures, with the principal church at the apex, together with the tombs of
the saints. The monastic precinct wall was also of significance, separating
the sacred from the external, profane world and its principal entrance acted
as a place of transition between the two realms*'. The icons of Solovetski
picture these concepts very clearly. In East Christian visual culture the heav-
enly Jerusalem was represented as a church, or a collection of churches®.
The presentation of the complex on the icons as a concentration of churches,
of holy places within walls, recalls Isaiah 60: 18: ‘Thou shalt call thy walls
Salvation and thy gates Praise’. The gleaming white walls and golden domes
could be associated with the canticle in the Liturgy of St John Chrysostom
after communion: ‘Shine, shine, O new Jerusalem, for the glory of the Lord
is risen upon thee’ (Isaiah 60: 1)*. Through the dedications of churches to
the Mother of God and the Transfiguration on Mount Tabor, the monastic
complex could be said to offer a simulacrum of the sacred sites of Israel. The
Annunciation church over the entrance combined symbolically gate, church
and tower, all key symbols of the Heavenly Jerusalem*’. The importance of
the gate is emphasized on the icons illustrated in Plates 9—14 by its size and
prominence; the monastic entrance on the Recklinghausen icon (Pl. 16) is
suggestive of the Royal Doors in an iconostasis, presumably designed to
evoke in the venerator a sense of the monastery beyond as the Holy of Ho-

39 The literature on this subject is extensive. See Kiihnel B. (ed.). The Real and Ideal Jerusa-
lem in Jewish, Christian and Islamic Art, Jewish Art vols 23/24 (1997-1998), notably Li-
dov A. Heavenly Jerusalem: The Byzantine Approach, p. 341-353.

40 Kiihnel B. ‘The Use and Abuse of Jerusalem’ in Kiihnel (ed.). p. xxii; see also Lidov.
‘Heavenly Jerusalem’ in idem and the papers by Elena Erdeljan and Elka Bakalova, Anna
Lazarova in this volume.

41 Popovié 8. “The Byzantine Monastery: Its Spatial Iconography and Sacredness’, in Lidov A.
(ed.). Hierotopy. The Creation of Sacred Spaces in Byzantium and Medieval Russia. Mos-
cow, 20006, p. 150-185, especially 159, 174, 177.

2 Lidov.*Heavenly Jerusalem’, p. 342-343.

3 Ibid., p. 346.

* Ibid., p. 344; see also the paper by Viadimir Sedov in this volume.
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lies. The icons in Plates 12 and 13 show that the abode of the founder saints
was accessible to the laity who therefore replicated the blessed of the Book
of Revelation, permitted to enter through the gates into the heavenly city.
Even the icons on which Zosima and Savvatii hold a diminutive representa-
tion of their monastery recall Revelation 3:12: ‘Him that overcomes will I
make a pillar in the temple of my God, and he shall no more go out: and |
will write upon him the name of my God, and the name of the city of my
God, which is New Jerusalem...” (Pls 7, 8).

The Solovetski icons have a hierotopic dualism. They picture sacred
space as a panorama (especially those illustrated in Plates 12 and 13, where
actions such as veneration and blessing take place); they also in Alexei Li-
dov’s words create ‘a spatial vision emanating from the depiction into the
environment in front of it and existing between the picture and its be-
holder’®. The Solovetski icons thus enabled viewers to embark on a meta-
phorical pilgrimage to the locus sanctus of the great monastery itself. For
some venerators perhaps that meant the heavenly city, made concrete and
manifest on the soil of Holy Russia. Within Solovetski’s multiple churches
the Heavenly Kingdom could be experienced through the Divine Liturgy,
where reality and symbolism became fused when the bread and wine be-
came the body and blood of Christ. The locus sanctified by the relics of the
founders offered a vision of life eternal, at once distant and inviting. Dis-
tant in that the Kingdom of Heaven remained a vision to be contemplated,
inviting in that the icons on the iconostases and the frescoed saints and
prophets on the walls bore witness to the fact that the vision of the Church
Triumphant was both alive and attainable and supported by the prayers of
those who were ‘angels here on earth’, the living monastic community of
Solovetski*,

Sacred space is created by a dialogue between viewer and viewed and by
engagement of all the senses — sight, hearing, smell, taste and touch — all of
which plus movement at some moment are brought to bear in icon veneration
and are invoked on the Solovetski icons. This concept of hierotopy, if not the
label, was perceived by the scientist and theologian Pavel Florenskii as long
ago as 1919; it is not the least of history’s awful ironies that he was impris-
oned and executed in the ‘real’ space of Solovetski itself*’.

> Lidov A. “Hierotopy. The creation of sacred spaces’ in Lidov. Hierotopy, p. 40.

“ The phrase ‘angels here on earth’ occurs in the twelfth-century Typicon for the Kellion of
St Savvatii at Karyes, Mount Athos: see Thomas J. and Hero A. C. (eds.). Byzantine Mo-
nastic Foundation Documents vol. 4 // Dumbarton Oaks 2000, p. 1333.

4T Misler N. “The Religious Ritual as Social Event’ in Foster, C. N. (ed.). “Event” Arts and
Art Events (Ann Arbor and London, 1998), p. 159-174.



684 Richard Marks

Acknowledgements

I am indebted to the Master and Fellows of Churchill College, University of
Cambridge, for kindly electing me to a By-Fellowship in Lent Term 2007,
during which this paper was revised. I am grateful too for the translation and
research skills of Yuliana Dresvina; Father John Baggley and Professor Frank
Sciacca provided invaluable bibliographical material and Cedomila Marin-
kovi¢ answered my queries about Byzantine and Serbian founder-images.
Alexei Lidov, who invited me to participate in the ‘New Jerusalems’ Sympo-
sium, has been a constant source of inspiration and encouragement.

Puuapa Mapkc
University of Cambridge

APXUTEKTYPHAA NKOHA:
N30BPAKAS COJTOBEIIKUIT MOHACTBIPD

C XVI B. u Bruotsh 110 peBomtouuu 1917 r. 3Hamenutsiid Coa0BEIKUN MO-
HaCTBIpb Ha benoM Mope U ero cBAThIE OCHOBATENU CTAHOBUIUCH MPEIMETOM
MHOXECTBA UKOH, HAa KOTOPBIX CBATBIE OCHOBATEIIN M300paXKallich ¢ 00pa3oM
obutenu. CyniecTBoBajia JTAJIEKO HE OJWH WKOHOTPAa(QUUCCKU oOpaser] Wiu
npoo0pa3, TaKk YTO WKOHBI JEMOHCTPUPYIOT Ype3BBIYaiiHOE pa3HOOOpasue He
TOJILKO B JICTAJSIX, HO U B caMoOM croxere. JlaHHas myOnuKanus MocBsIieHa
HCCIIEIOBAHUIO COJIOBEIIKUX MKOH KoHIa X VI u Hauana XVII B., B 4acTHOCTH,
CHocO00B UX BTOPYKEHMS B HEPOTONMUIECKOE MTPOCTPAHCTBO, IS YErO MOApOo0-
HO aHAJIM3UPYIOTCSI KOHKPETHEIE JieTanu 1 Hameku Ha HebecHeiii Mepycamum.

K xonmy XVII B. Bemymne MOCKOBCKHE MKOHOTIHCITHI H300paKaiy apXu-
TEKTYpy C ONPEACICHHON CTENEHbI0 TOYHOCTH M C UCHOJIB30BAHUEM HEKOTO-
pOM «peanCcCTUYECKOI NMEPCIIEKTUBBI, TaBHO U3BECTHOM 3alaJHOMY HCKYCCT-
By. bputo OBl HEBEpHBIM CKa3aTh, YTO H300paKCHWE Y3HABAEMBIX 3IaHUIA
3aMEHHJI0 HEKOHKPETHBIE PHCYHKH; 3a4acTyr0 JIBa 00pasiia COCYIIeCTBOBAIH,
MHOT/IAa JaXe B paMKax OJHOW MKOHBI. JTO OYEBHIHO HA MHOTMX HKOHAaX C
koHIa XVI B. ¥ 03Ke, Ha KOTOPBIX MPEICTABICHBI PYCCKUE MOHACTBIPU U UX
CBSITBIC OCHOBATEIN; BUIIHO 3TO M Ha M300pakeHus1x [IpeoOpaxeHcKoro MoHa-
cThIpst Ha COJIOBEIIKUX OCTPOBAX — CaMOM CEBEpHOU M HauOoJIee MOYNTACMOM
ooburenu B Poccun, cosmannoi B XV B. c¢BB. CaBBatueM u 3ocuMoii. Mona-
CTBIPb JJOCTUT IIMKa CBOETO paclsera B cepenuHe X VI B., npu urymenax du-
murme (1548-1566) u Makapuw, ObiBIIeM apxuenuckorie HoBropozackom, ko-
TOPBIA CTAT MUTPONOIUTOM Bcest Pycu (1542—-1563). Owmmnm Havar 3aMeHy
CYIIECTBOBABIIMX JAEPEBIHHBIX CTPOSHHI MOHACTHIPS OoJiee aMOUIIMO3HBIMH H
MOHYMEHTAIBHBIMU 3JaHUSAMU U3 KAMHS M KApIHAYa, U pealu3anys 3Tol npo-
rpaMMBbl 3aHsUIa CBBIIIE NOJTyBeKa. Camble paHHHUE CONOBELKUE UKOHBI — 3TO
rapa O4YeHb KPYITHBIX JOCOK, AaTupoBaHHbIX 7053 (1545) romom; obe oHM Ha-
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XozsTcs ceiyac B My3essx MockoBckoro Kpemis. OcHoBaTenun oouTenu U Mo-
HaXW TPEJCTABICHBI CTOSIIUMH Ha OCTPOBE, 2 MOHACTBIPCKUE CTPOCHUS H30-
OpakeHBl CXEeMaTHMYHO W HE WMEIOT OTHOIICHWS K PealbHBIM 3JIaHHUSM TOTO
BpeMeHH. TakuM 00pa3om, Tiepes HaMHU BCTaeT sIpKUil 00pa3 cakpalbHOTo Mpo-
CTpPaHCTBa, CO BCEMH €r0 PyCCKUMH PEATIMAMH, K UUCITY KOTOPBIX OTHOCHUTCS U
BKJIFOUYEHHE B KOMITIO3MIUIO OCTpoBa. JKUTHITHbIE MKOHBI JBYX OCHOBAaTelNei
CO3/IaBaJIMCh HA MPOTSDKEHUM IOCTETYIONINX BEKOB JJISI MKOHOCTAaCOB MOHA-
CTHIpel U 1epkBel, ocobeHHo Ha ceBepe Poccrn. Ha HuxX ¢urypsl crosmmx B
nonHbli poct 3ocumbl 1 CapBathsi ycrynatoT Mecto boromarepu boromo6-
CKOM, TIepen KOTOpOH CTOMT Ha KOJIeHSX Bcs Opatws. Kak u B ciydae ¢ mapoit
HKOH 1545 T., cylIecTBYIOT pa3Hble BapHalluK 3TON TEMBbI, KOTOpas HE CBOJUT-
cf K kecTkoMy oOpasiry. Cesareie CaBBatnii M1 30cHMa JTOMHHHUPYIOT Ha MHO-
TMX MOJUTBEHHBIX oOpazax XVIIB. OmuH W3 BapHaHTOB MOJYEPKUBACT UX
CXOJICTBO C OTIIaMH-ITyCTHIHHUKAMH, TTIOCKOJIbKY OHU MTOMeIlleHbI Ha (poHe cKa-
JHCTOTO OE3)KU3HEHHOTo ocTpoBa. CaM MOHACTHIPH Ha 3TOH MKOHE He N300pa-
JKEH, HO BO MHOT'HX BEPCHSIX JAHHOTO TWIa o0pa3 oOWTenH JAepikaT B pyKax
caMHu CBATHIEC, CIOBHO JBa croima CoJOBEKOro MOHACTBIpS. DTO ocoboe
npeacrasiaeHre COJIOBKOB U CBSITHIX OCHOBaTesel — Hauboree pachpocTpa-
HEHHBI MKOHOTPaMUYECKUI THIT, BOCXOJSIINN K BH3aHTUICKUM U CEPOCKUM
oOpa3am ocHOBaTelell Ha (peckax W B MO3auKe. BakHOe OTJIMYKE COCTOUT B
TOM, YTO MOHACTBIPh B PyKax CBSTHIX Ha 3TOW WKOHE BBITJIAINUT HE TaKUM, Ka-
KUM OH OBIT B MX BpeMsl, a TakuM, KakuM oH ctai K X VII B. OmHako abcomroT-
Hasl ICTOpHYECKasi JOCTOBEPHOCTh He ObLIa IEIbI0 TaHHBIX UKOH; JOCTATOYHO
OBLTO MMOKA3aTh HEKOTOPHIE 3HAKOBBIE 00BEKTHI — CTEHEBI, TJIABHBIE IIEPKBU, —
y100BI COIIOBEIKMIT MOHACTHIPH CTaN y3HABa€MbIM Ha UKOHAX, OTIUYAsICh OT
JPYTUX TOA00HBIX pycckux obuternel. Takum 0Opa3oM, TOTBITKH UCTOPHUKOB
apXHUTEKTYpPbI 00pamaThCs K caMbIM paHHUM UKOHAM KaK K HCTOYHHUKaM, B KO-
TOPBIX MOYKHO HaWTH yTpadeHHbIE UM U3MEHEHHbIE BIIOCIEICTBUH JETANN pe-
AJIBHBIX MOHACTBIPCKUX CTPOEHHH, BECbMa CIIOPHBI.

Jpyras xareropusi Kak MOJICHHBIX, TaK W KPYITHBIX WKOH BKJIFOUAeT W30-
Opaxenre CoOJIOBEIKOTO MOHACTHIPSI M €0 OCTPOBHOE OKpykeHue. [1o 6oJib-
IIel 4acTH, 3TH COJIOBEIKME MKOHBI OTIMYAIOTCS MEHbLIEH TOYHOCTBIO H30-
OpakeHHsT KOHKPETHOTO MECTa, TMOCKOJBKY OCHOBHOE BHHIMAaHHE YJIENICHO
CO3[JAHUIO CaKpaJbHOTO Te3aka Kak TaKOBOTO, WJIHM, TOYHEE TOBOps, MOHa-
CTBIPCKOT'O Teii3aka, B KOTOPOM Pa3BOPAuMBAIUCH KIFOUEBBIE COOBITHS MPO-
nutoro u HefaBHel ncropuu ConoBkoB. Camu CONOBKH, UX IIEPKBU, PEITUKBHH
W 9yIOTBOPHBIC MKOHBI CTAHOBATCA Sanctus locus W COCTABIIIOT KBHHTICCEH-
IIUI0 MKOHBI MKOH. Paznuume Mexay n300pakeHHBIM Ha MKOHAX U PEabHBIM
pacronokeHreM MOHACTBIPCKHUX LIEPKBEW CKOpee BCEro oTpaskaeT 0coOble pH-
OpHTETHI B MOYUTAHNH, CBOWCTBEHHBIE HKOHOMHCITY W/VIJIH 3aKa34HKy, a TaKKe
npeaHasHadeHne MKOH. COJIOBEIKHE MKOHBI MMEIOT JOTIOJHUTENbHbIE, TIOPOi
CIIOHBIE cMbIcibl. Hanbonee oueBHaHbI Te, T€ TPUCYTCTBYIOT CB. 30cHMa U



686 Richard Marks

CaBBaruii, MOJHOCSIINE MOHACTHIPh boromarepu; 3TOT THI UKOH MOXET OBITh
OTHECEeH K KaTeropuy BU3aHTHHCKUX 00pa3oB ocHoBareneil. BHuManne cocpe-
JIOTOYEHO Ha CaMUX OCHOBATEIIX W Ha MOHACTHIPE C €r0 XapaKTepHBIMHU dep-
TaMH, KOTOPbIE BBICTYAIOT B KayeCTBE arnorpa(uueckux MpHU3HAKOB WITH aT-
puOyToB. X BOCIpoHM3BeICHME W PACIPOCTPAHEHHWE KaK MOJEHHBIX U
IIEpPKOBHBIX WMKOH 3a mpezenaMi COJIOBEIIKOTO MOHACTHIPS IMPUBEIO K TOMY,
YTO OHU CTaJIM CIIYXKHTH HJIA NPOABMIKCHUA KYJIbTa COJIOBEHKUX OCHOBAaTeJIei.
To ke BEpHO B OTHOLIEHHH MKOH caMoro COJOBEIIKOTO MOHACTBHIPS C TpeMs
TJIaBHBIMHU 1IEPKBSIMH, MOTHJIAMH OCHOBATENe W 9yJOTBOPHBIMH M 0C0O0O TIO-
YUTAaeMbIMH MKOHAMH. DTH OPWUTHWHAJBHBIE COJIOBEIIKHE WKOHBI M300pakaroT
caMo CBSITO€ MECTO, sanctus locus, HO 3TO N300pakeHne HE HEUTpabHOE U He
OTHIO/Ib HE OOBEKTHBHOE: UX BOCIIPHUATHE 3aBUCHT OT MPSIMOTO WA OTIOCPEIO-
BaHHOTO (Yepe3 UKOHY) B3TJIsiIa 3puTelst. Mcmoms3yst GopMyIMpoBKY ITOCIIEIO-
Batesel KaHta, MOXKHO CcKa3aTh, YTO JIOAM HE MOT'YT OBITh pa3MEIICHBI B IPO-
CTPaHCTBE — OHHM CaMH CO3[AI0T MPOCTPAHCTBO BOKPYT ceOsl. A MOCKOJIBKY
3pUTENb WK TOKJIOHSIOMIUNCS MPEACTaBIsIeT cO00H M3MEHUHBYIO PEabHOCTh
B JTFOOYTO AMOXY (Imasiexo He Toibko poccussauH X VI u X VII BB.), BoctipusiTie u
CMBICI HUKOT/Ia He OBIBAIOT (PMKCUPOBAHHBIMU MIIH CTAOWIIBHBIMHU.

Bynmer Ge3ycloBHBIM YTIPOIIEHUEM HWCKaTh €AWHCTBEHHO BEPHYIO HHTEp-
TIPETaINIO COJIOBEIKIX MKOH, M y’K BOBCE HEBO3MOXKHO PEKOHCTPYHPOBATh MX
BOCIPHUSTHE COBpEMEHHUKaMH. TeM He MeHee, n300pakeHust COI0BELKOTo MO-
HacCTBIps SIBJIAIOT HaM HE TOJBKO KOHKPETHOE POCCHHCKOE CaKpalbHOE Ipo-
CTpaHCcTBO, HO camy Csaryro 3emimo 1 Hoserit Mepycamim m3 Otkposenns Ho-
anHa borocioBa. KoneuHo, m1000#f MOHACTBIph WM MECTO COBEPILICHUS
JUTYpruy MokeT BocnpuHuMathess kak Hosbnii HMepycamum. Ho Comnosenkas
0o0OHTENTh HE OTHOCUTCS K THITY, CO3/[aBaBIlieMycs rnaTpuapxom HukonoM Ha Oe-
perax VMcTpbl, B HEM HET apXUTEKTYpHBIX Nojpaxanuid Mepycainmy, a MUKOHBI C
€ro I/I306pa)KeHI/IﬂMI/I HE CBUICTCIBCTBYIOT O IIOIBITKAX KOIIMPOBATH 31aHUA
Cestoit 3emmu. U Bce e coNoOBelKHe MKOHBI BBI3BIBAIOT B MAMSATH CJIOBA TPO-
poka Hcaitn: «Boccustit, HoBbrit Mepycamim, n6o ciaBa ["'ocromHs B3omnia Haf
TOOOIO», a caMH Ha3BaHMS — IIEpKOBhL braroserenus u [lpeobpaskeHCKHiA CO-
00p — HAIIOMHUHAIOT O CaKpalbHBIX eHTpax M3paums. To 06cTosATENBCTBO, UTO
Ha MKOHAX Bpara 0OUTEeNN H300pakaiuch 0COOEHHO KPYITHO, JOJHDKHO TOBOPUTH,
YTO >KWJIUILIE OCHOBATeJIe OTKPBITO ISl MUPSIH, KaK U BpaTa HeOecHOro Tpaja.

ConoBelkue UKOHBI 00Ja1al0T HEPOTOMHUECKIM Tyaau3mMoM. OHHU U30-
OpaxaroT cakpaJbHOE MPOCTPAHCTBO KakK MMaHOpaMmy; HO MPHU 3TOM, IO CIIO-
BaMm Aurekcest JInmoBa, «o0pa3 B MKOHE pealm3yeTcsl HE BHYTPH KapTHHHOM
TUTOCKOCTH, a B IPOCTPAHCTBE MEpe Hel, BOZHUKAIOLIEM MEX/ITy MOJIILIIMCS U
n3o0paxkeHnemM». TakuM 00pa3oM, COJOBENKHE MKOHBI MO3BOJISIOT 3PUTEISIM
OTIIPaBUTHCS B MeTaQOpPHUECKOe MATOMHUYECTBO K [ocus sanctus BEITHKOTO
MOHACTHIpsi. BeposiTHO, [l BepYIOLIMX 3TH WKOHBI oiHIeTBOpsitoT Hebec-
HBI{ Tpaj, IpeACTaBICHHBII B KOHKPETHOM 00JmKe Ha 3emie Cearoii Pycu.
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1. Simon Ushakov: icon of The Tree of the State of Muscovy (in praise of the
Mother of God of Vladimir), from the church of the Holy Trinity in Nikitniki,
Moscow, 1668; 105x62 cm (Moscow, State Tretyakov Gallery, Inv. No. 28598)

=

2. Andrei Shelkovnikov: etching of Solovetski Monastery, 1827/37; 47.2x54.5
cm (St Petersburg, State Russian Museum, Inv. No. 777)



688 Richard Marks

3. Icon of the Acts of the Miracle-Workers of Solovetski, 1545, in the Dormition
Cathedral, Moscow Kremlin; 214x138 cm (Moscow, Kremlin Museums,
Inv. No. 789)
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4. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii, 170 century; 99x65 cm (Cambridge, Girton
College, Diana Lorch Bequest)
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5. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii, 17" century; 31x26.5 cm (London,
Sotheby’s sale catalogue, 5 October 1981, lot 65)

6. Wall-painting in the church of the Mother of God at Pe¢ of Archbishop
Danilo II and the Prophet Daniel with a representation of the patriarchal
church at Pe¢, Kossovo; mid-14" century
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8. Engraved icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii, second half of 17" century;
37.5%28.3 cm (St Petersburg, State Russian Museum, Inv. No. 3516)

7. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii, 17" century; 30.5%26.5 cm (Sweden, Egon
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9. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii and Solovetski Monastery, early 17" century;
104x78 cm (Moscow, State Tretyakov Gallery, Inv. No. 12068)
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10. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii and Solovetski Monastery, late 17" century;
31x27.5 cm (formerly London, Temple Gallery)
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11. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii and Solovetski Monastery, mid-17" century;
31.4x27.3 cm (formerly London, Temple Gallery)
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12. Design for an icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii and Solovetski Monastery,

end of 17" century; 28.5x24 cm (Moscow, State Historical Museum,
Inv. No. UXIII-14923)
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13. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii and Solovetski Monastery, early 18" cen-
tury; 81x55 cm (London, Sotheby’s sale catalogue, 18 October 1982, lot 97)
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14. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii and Solovetski Monastery, beginning of 17"
century; 31.2x27.5 cm (Moscow, State Tretyakov Gallery, Inv. No. 24859)
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15. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii and Solovetski Monastery, late 17" century;
31.3x27.5 cm (Berlin, Staatliche Museen Preussischer Kulturbesitz,
Inv. No. 9635)
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16. Icon of SS Zosima and Savvatii and Solovetski Monastery, mid-17" century;
31x27 cm (Recklinghausen, Ikonen-Museum, Inv. No. 413)



